

South Cambridgeshire District Council Health & Environmental Services Health & Safety Service Plan 2007/08



The Health & Safety Service receiving the HELA Highly Commended award for the Warehouse Safety project.

Contents

1.0 Service Aims and Objectives

- 1.1 Objective, Aims and Key Tasks
- 1.2 Targets and Performance Measures
- 1.3 Links to Corporate Objectives and Plans
- 1.4 Equality & Diversity

2.0 Background

- 2.1 Authority Profile
- 2.2 Organisational Structure
- 2.3 Scope of the Health and Safety Service
- 2.4 Demands on the Health and Safety Service
- 2.5 Enforcement Policy
- 2.6 The Roger's Review

3.0 Service Delivery

- 3.1 Health and Safety Premises Inspections
- 3.2 Health and Safety Complaints and requests for Service
- 3.3 Lead Authority Principle
- 3.4 Advice to Business
- 3.5 Enforcement Action
- 3.6 Investigation of Work Related Injury and Disease
- 3.7 Liaison with Other Organisations
- 3.8 Health and Safety Promotion

4.0 Resources

- 4.1 Financial Allocation
- 4.2 Staffing Allocation
- 4.3 Staff Development Plan

5.0 Quality Assessment

5.1 Quality Assessment

6.0 Review Process

- 6.1 Review against Service Plan
- 6.2 Areas of Improvement

1.0 Service Aim, Objectives, Key Tasks and Targets

1.1 Objective, Aims and Key Tasks

In the UK during 2005/06 (most current statistics):

- **2.0 million** people were suffering from an illness they believed was caused or made worse by their current or past work.
- 212 workers were killed at work, a rate of 0.7 per 100,000 workers.
- **328 000** reportable injuries occurred, according to the Labour Force Survey, a rate of 1200 per 100 000 workers.
- **30 million days** were lost overall (1.3 days per worker), 24 million due to work-related ill health and 6 million due to workplace injury.

Local Authorities as defined in the Health and Safety (Enforcing Authority) Regulations 1998 (EA Regulations) are responsible for the enforcement of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 (HSW Act) and subordinate legislation to the extent prescribed by the EA Regulations.

Section 18(4) of the HSW Act requires that enforcing authorities perform their duties in accordance with guidance from the Health & Safety Commission (HSC). This guidance commonly known as 'Section 18 Guidance' is, therefore, mandatory.

One of the key elements of the guidance is a requirement to produce an annual service plan detailing the Authority's arrangements for discharging its duty whilst contributing to current HSC priorities. The Government and the HSC issued the 'Revitalising Health & Safety Strategy Statement' June 2000, which set the following national targets:

- reduce the number of working days lost per 100,000 workers from work-related injury and ill health by 30% by 2010;
- reduce the incidence rate of fatal and major injury accidents by 10% by 2010;
- reduce the incidence rate of cases of work-related ill health by 20% by 2010;

This service plan details how this Council, through the Environmental Health Service, plans to undertake its duties and contribute to the overall national targets.

The Health & Environmental Services Statement of Purpose is directly relevant to the Health & Safety Service:

OBJECTIVES

The objectives of Environmental Health services within South Cambridgeshire District Council are to work with local organizations, businesses and the wider community to:

- ♦ Minimise environmental damage, now and in the future
- Enhance a sense of well being within our villages, communities and businesses
- ♦ Safeguard and improve public health
- Improve the quality of life of citizen's generally and for those disadvantaged specifically

♦ Install a sense of pride in being associated with Environmental Health at SCDC

VALUES

- High quality service to the public
- Target resources to areas of greatest risk/effect/change.
- Consult and provide sensible, clear, open, honest and fair decisions
- Use new technology to improve service to the public
- Be consistent, responsible and equitable
- Use common sense
- Be responsive and flexible to people's needs
- Set standards by which to be judged

The health and safety service contributes to this purpose by ensuring that risks to a person's health, safety and welfare from work activities are properly controlled through advice and enforcement.

Key tasks, which lead towards fulfilling this objective, are;

- To maintain a register of all premises where the service enforces health and safety legislation.
- To inspect at predetermined intervals or by the use of other intervention strategies, and in response to complaints, relevant workplaces to determine compliance with relevant legislation.
- To take the most appropriate action upon inspection of relevant workplaces including the use of advice, informal correspondence, improvement and prohibition notices, formal cautions and the institution of legal proceedings.
- To educate proprietors of relevant workplaces in health, safety and welfare matters and their legal responsibilities in relation to their occupation by the distribution of leaflets and the provision of advice and information.
- To investigate specific accident notifications.
- To advise on the design of relevant workplace premises prior to and during alterations and construction.
- To liaise and work in partnership with the Health and Safety Executive (HSE), Trading Standards and the Fire Authority regarding the enforcement of the legislation.
- To comply with the HSC section 18 guidance in respect of inspection programmes, intervention strategies and service plans.

1.2 Performance Measures

In order to achieve the stated objective the service has identified key performance measures as required in the Health & Environmental Services Service Plan;

- The Best Value Indicator 166 The Environmental Health Checklist score of enforcement best practice
- The % health & safety inspections carried out for high risk premises (including other interventions)
- The % of non-urgent complaints, accidents and requests for service, which were first responded to within 3 working days.
- The benchmark score for the service against a Quality and Performance matrix (Hampshire Matrix)

The Council has also approved new customer service standards that are applied to the service.

1.3 Links to Corporate Objectives and Plans

1.3.1 The Council Corporate Objectives

The relevant Councils Corporate Objectives and policies are as follows: -

• High quality, accessible, value for money services

For example:

Ensuring equal access for all e.g. adequate provision for those with heath and safety concerns or those who have suffered an accident at work to contact the Council, adequate information on how to conduct risk assessments and ensure safe systems of work.

Quality village life

For example:

Ensuring local businesses are safe and that local residents have safe and healthy places to work.

A sustainable future for South Cambridgeshire

For example:

Ensuring that local and national businesses within South Cambridgeshire comply with and go further than the legal Health and Safety requirements and thus offering the South Cambridgeshire area as an attractive one to which businesses will wish to be based.

A better future through partnership

For example:

An underpinning ethos of the Council, recognising that not all of services can be delivered in isolation, The Council is at the forefront of partnership working with other agencies including the Health and Safety Executive, local businesses, Trading Standards etc. The Council is also looking to implement the "Better Regulation" agenda, which is a partnership with other enforcement agencies designed to reduce the legislative burden on businesses.

1.3.2 The Sustainable Community Strategy for South Cambridgeshire

The Sustainable Community Strategy paints a picture of our district, as we want it to become over the next 15 or more years. It takes account of the changes and challenges facing the district, including creating the new town of Northstowe. The strategy is closely related to the Cambridgeshire Local Area Agreement and contains targets to improve the health safety and wellbeing of our residents and those working or visiting South

Cambridgeshire. The Strategy is currently being reviewed and a new version will be produced mid 2007.

1.3.3 Partnership Working

If the strategy is to be delivered it is important to get support from other outside agencies and organisations as the work to improve health and safety lies both inside and outside the scope of council services.

The key stakeholders for this strategy include:

- · Residents of South Cambridgeshire
- Those who may work in the district or who may visit businesses for which the Council
 is the enforcing authority
- Cambridgeshire Primary Care Trust (CPCT). The CPCT works in partnership with an number of organisations including SCDC on a number of Health and Safety related matters including the work of the Health Protection Agency.
- Often the Council is not the first "port of Call" for Health and Safety advice and it is important to work with the Cambridge Council for Voluntary Services, Age Concern, and the Citizens Advice Bureau etc.
- Other multi-agency groups include the South Cambridgeshire Improving Health Partnership

1.3.4 Service Delivery

In order to provide a comprehensive and inclusive Health and Safety service it is vital to work with and include the above stakeholders in the development and delivery of the plan. It is critical that the services available are publicised to all stakeholders.

1.3.5 Access to Quality Services

Quality Services - Service Standards

South Cambridgeshire has introduced a set of service standards that aim to put customers first, deliver outstanding services and provide easy access to services and information. They place the customer at the centre of its service delivery.

The specific standards for Health and Safety are: We will:

- Carry out inspections of Local Authority enforced premises
- Investigate health and safety complaints and take appropriate action
- Provide health and safety training courses
- Consider and investigate reportable accidents and dangerous incidents
- Redirect your complaint to the appropriate organisation if the matter is not our responsibility
- Record anonymous complaints and decide on appropriate action
- Respond to accident notifications with 24 hours

The Contact Centre acts as a first point of contact for Health and Safety enquires. The staff are trained to answer questions on Health and Safety issues. The service is available 8.00 am to 8.00 pm six days a week.

Customer feedback is encouraged and welcomed. Each year the Environmental Health Department carries out a Customer Satisfaction Survey, the results of which are worked on to improve customer service.

The needs of "harder to reach" groups has yet to be addressed and it hoped that the results of further consultation will be incorporated into the strategy in due course.

Various leaflets are also available relating to specific areas of Health and Safety.

The Council is also aware that other non-statutory agencies such as the CAB give Health and Safety related information. It is therefore important to keep these agencies updated, as the information given is only as up to date as the information provided by the Council.

1.3.6 Health & Environmental Services Service Plan 2007/08

In order to meet the key corporate goal and ensure continuous improvement the Health & Environmental Service has a Service Plan covering 2007/08. This incorporates key actions, improvements and performance indicators specifically for health and safety. The areas highlighted for improvement in 2007/08 are contained in section 6.2 of this plan.

In addition the Council has signed up to the Enforcement Concordat and has an agreed Environmental Health Enforcement Policy. The service operates to the principles of transparency, helpfulness, proportionality and consistency contained within these documents.

1.4 Equality & Diversity

The Council has produced a disability equality scheme that addresses the needs of disabled people accessing the Council's Health and Safety Service.

The Council is also reviewing its access to services and policies in relation to ethnic minorities in accordance with the Race Equality requirements and has produced interactive thematic maps of the area using Census 2001. The council has also worked in partnership with the Primary Care Trust to produce a health profile of the district using the DETR MID, the information is used to plan services based on the needs of the population

The Council monitors the composition of the population particularly with regards to the ethnicity of the population. (Travellers form the largest ethnic minority in South Cambs).

The Council produces, upon request, letters/leaflets in other languages and formats including Braille and has a contract with Language Line to provide translation services for tenants/clients who first language is not English

The team performs an enforcement function requiring commercial businesses to manage health & safety through a risk-based approach. The service will take account and have regard for individual situations as they arise.

The Council, through its best value review on accessing services has identified the following groups whose access requirements need to be addressed:

- Working parents, commuters etc i.e. busy people for whom time is the greatest constraint. They need to be able to contact the Council at a convenient time of day, quickly and easily. In some cases, such people may wish to use technology (email and website) but in other cases the opportunity to be able to speak to someone outside normal office hours would be valuable.
- Low income groups i.e. people who may find the cost of phoning the Council (particularly for long calls); travelling into the main offices; or the cost of some discretionary services prohibitive.
- People from different age groups. While wishing to avoid pre-judging the preferences
 of different age groups, the Council needs to provide for both new and more
 traditional forms of communication.
- People living in outlying villages in South Cambs, including those that look more to the surrounding market town as they're nearest centre. Residents in such villages may find it difficult to come to see the Council (if it is something which cannot be dealt with by telephone) because of lack of public transport.
- People with access to computers and those who don't. Electronic service delivery will
 have great benefits for many people and will also achieve efficiencies for the Council.
 It will continue to be necessary to ensure that people without computers are not
 disadvantaged.
- People with sensory or other physical difficulties. The Council must continue to develop the means to enable all residents to have equal access.
- People who don't have English as their main language or who may have other cultural differences.

In order to address these concerns the council uses a range of methods to make services as accessible as possible. These include-

- Wheelchair accessible offices with private interview facilities at Cambourne
- Translation and Interpreting facilities where needed
- Website and email
- Contact Centre with flexible and extended hours of operation

2.0 Background

2.1 Authority Profile

The area served by South Cambridgeshire District Council is approximately 350 square miles, much of which is farmland given to primary production of food, mainly cereals and vegetables.

Villages range from small rural settlements to suburban and new village settlements such as Bar Hill and Cambourne. There are no large towns within the district, the largest village currently having a population of 7,060.

There is increasing pressure from development, particularly research and high technology industries and new housing. South Cambridgeshire is part of the Eastern development growth area. The population of approximately 133,000 is rapidly expanding. New build and new villages will take the population to over 200,000 within 5 years. The village of Cambourne is continuing to develop and will have a growing population of 10,000 persons. Additionally the preparatory work has commenced for the proposed new village of Northstowe. It is currently estimated that the population will be about 15,000 people.

With this projected growth it is anticipated that there will be an increase in the number of commercial businesses in the District year on year. South Cambridgeshire is one of the largest growth areas in the country at the present time.

2.2 Organisational structure

Within the Health & Environmental Services, the Food Control and Health & Safety Team Leader oversees day-to-day service delivery. Overall management responsibility lies with the Corporate Manager through the Principal Environmental Health Officer.

2.3 Scope of the Health and Safety Service

The health and safety service comprises a range of key functions:

- Health and Safety Inspections or other intervention strategies in local authority enforced premises
- Investigating accidents, cases of occupational disease and dangerous occurrences
- Responding to complaints about workplace conditions
- Dealing with other statutory notifications, for example adverse lift reports and asbestos removal
- Health and safety awareness training and initiatives
- Production of a health and safety newsletter for all South Cambridgeshire enforced businesses.
- Provision of health and safety information and advice through the development of the website.

Proactive aspects of the health and safety service, for example the inspection programme, are delivered jointly with other proactive services such as food hygiene inspections where applicable.

The reactive aspects of the service are responded to within set timescales based on priority. Accident notifications and complaints are dealt with speedily and requests for advice are dealt with within the corporate customer service standards.

The health and safety service is delivered by suitably trained and experienced officers meeting the requirements of Health and Safety Executive and Local Authority Enforcement Liaison Committee (HELA) Section 18 guidance.

External consultants are occasionally used to undertake inspections or other intervention strategies. The decision to employ contractors will be taken by the Principal Environmental Health Officer in consultation with the Food Safety & Health & Safety Team Leader and will be subject to the following criteria;

• There is a direct need to ensure statutory performance targets are met,

- External contractors must meet the requirements of HELA Section 18 guidance,
- The cost of the work can be met within existing budgets and,
- Knowledge of the competency and quality of the consultants.

The health and safety service operates from the South Cambridgeshire Hall between 8.30am and 5.00pm, Monday to Friday. Evening and weekend inspections are carried out as determined by the risk based inspection programme and the premises opening hours.

Emergency health and safety issues are currently directed initially to a 24-hour out of hours officer via the Council's Contact Centre. In addition the Council's fully revised website is used to provide information about health and safety services for consumers and business and also provides a direct email address for service requests env.health@scambs.gov.uk

2.4 Demands on the Health and Safety Service

On 1 April 2007, the district had 1353 known relevant workplaces. The risk ratings of these workplaces (based on national guidance) are shown below.

The profile of premises comprises a traditional range of workplaces including offices, warehouses, retail premises and consumer services.

Priority Premises	Risk Category	Frequency of Inspection	Total number of premises in category
Α	High	12 months	29
B1	Intermediate	18 months	38
B2	Intermediate	24 months	80
B3	Intermediate	Use other Intervention Strategies. Review not less than three yearly	158
B4	Intermediate	Use Other Intervention Strategies. Review not less than 5 yearly	162
С	Lowest risk	Use other Intervention strategies	701
UNCLASSIFED TOTAL			185 1353

2.5 Enforcement Policy

The Health & Safety service follow the Service's Enforcement Policy acknowledging the Enforcement Concordant. In addition to this, the service uses the Enforcement Management Model, designed by the Health & Safety Executive to assist in enforcement decision-making. The model is used primarily to test consistency between officers and during complex investigations. In accordance with the HSE's Section 18 guidance, a specific Enforcement Policy for health & safety enforcement will be produced and publicised.

2.6 The Roger's Review – National Enforcement Priorities for Local Authority Regulatory Service

The Roger's Review clarified the priorities that central government considered mattered most in local regulatory services. Within the five priorities 'Improving health in the workplace' is a national enforcement priority due to the high risks posed to individuals, their families, damage to business and the costs to the economy as a whole. It also generates high levels of local concern and local authorities can have a significant impact either working in partnership or individually. This plan demonstrates that South Cambridgeshire District Council also recognizes the health & safety service as a priority area within the total Environmental Health services provided.

3.0 Service Delivery

3.1 Health and Safety Premises Inspections

The completion of programmed health and safety inspections is one of the key performance measures for the health and safety service and essential in minimising workplace accidents and ill-health.

The Council's performance target for health & safety inspections was exceeded by the Service. 90% of identified inspections were targeted, 100% of inspections were carried out, 213 inspections identified were achieved in 2006/07. Much of this work was through partnership arrangements with the HSE.

With the change in national emphasis outlined by the HSC's Revitalising Health & Safety Strategy, Local Authorities are now being asked to concentrate inspections on high-risk premises and assist in the delivery of evidence based and targeted national campaigns.

For 2007/08, inspections will only be undertaken within High Risk Premises (A-B2 Categories) and targeted premises for topic based inspections as part of national campaigns. Officers will review the lower risk premises as appropriate, in accordance with the time intervals allocated.

Fit3 (Fit for work, fit for Life, Fit for Tomorrow) is the HSE's main national campaign for 2007/08. This will include promotional and enforcement activities in some of the following areas:

- Slips trips and falls
- Workplace transport
- Stress
- Asbestos
- Contact dermatitis
- Falls from height.

- Moving Goods Safely
- Smoke Free Implementation
- Musculoskeletal disorders Better Backs

The Council will be committing approximately 2 full time equivalent officers during 2007/08 to some of these initiatives.

The table below outlines the inspection programme and alternative interventions planned for 2007/08.

There are also a number of businesses currently on the health and safety database indicated in 2.4, which are unclassified. A proportion of these will be newly opened businesses, which is a constant aspect of the commercial sector. Whilst many of these premises have been previously inspected, due to changes in the recording of the rating system they have not yet been risk-rated to the new rating. Therefore as part of the routine maintenance of the database such premises will be incorporated into the programme.

Additional inspections will also arise during the year by virtue of complaints, new business start-ups, change of use, major alterations/refurbishment's and requests for inspection. It is also estimated that 20% of inspections of category A – B2 premises will generate a revisit. A revisit will always be carried out where statutory notices have been served, in all other cases the officer will make a professional judgement as to the requirement for a revisit.

Category	Provisional No. of inspections due	Туре
Α	16	Inspection
B1	38	Inspection
B2	24	Inspection
B3 B4 C	53 35 120	Alt. Enforcement Alt. Enforcement Alt. Enforcement
Sub total	286	
Unclassified	50	Survey/Visit
TOTAL	336	

In accordance with the current Health and Safety Commission (HSC) Strategic Plan and HELA Strategy, as outlined in LAC 67/1 rev3, the focus of inspection activity within the planned programme will be topic based. This proactive intervention concentrates on five key topic areas that have been identified by the commission as contributing nationally to the highest rates of accidents/incidents and ill health at work, across all health and safety enforcing authorities. Namely;

- Slips and trips
- Workplace transport
- Musculoskeletal Disorders
- Stress
- Falls from heights

In addition to this the topic-based inspections will also concentrate on Fit3 interventions, as detailed previously.

From 1 July 2007, all enclosed workplaces will have to become smoke free, as a result of the Health Act 2006 and subsequent regulations. The task of enforcement has been given to Local Authority Environmental Health Services. This now forms part of, and will compliment, the Fit3 commitments for all Local Authorities during 2007/08 and beyond.

Smoke free implementation for businesses will be incorporated into the proactive inspection work undertaken by the Health & Environmental Services, together with dedicated Smoke–free Officers (currently being recruited), in addition to responding to complaints.

The approach is therefore about focusing health and safety enforcement resources into areas where they are likely to have the greatest impact rather than completing all-encompassing inspections.

The above does not preclude the importance of providing wider guidance on health and safety compliance to new businesses and following specific service requests.

During the period 01/04/06 to 31/03/07, 214 inspections were carried out on commercial premises in the district. Most inspections were topic-based visits targeting transport safety, slips and trips and dermatitis primarily.

3.2 Health and Safety Complaints and Requests for Service

The health and safety service responds to all complaints and requests for service made to the Council in accordance with their priority.

Health and safety matters, which are not the responsibility of the Council, are referred to the Health and Safety Executive or the relevant local authority, as appropriate.

From 1/04/06 to 31/04/07 the service dealt with 48 complaints and requests for service.

3.3 Lead Authority Principle

The service is a supporter of the lead authority principle, however at present there are no businesses in the District for which South Cambridgeshire is the formal lead authority. This has been actively promoted with businesses in the district, however, this has not been taken up to date.

The HSE is undertaking a new venture with Local Authorities, which is the Large Organisations Partnership Pilot (LOPP) scheme. This involved major national organisations with account managers from either HSE or LA's leading on health and safety issues on a national basis. The Council will support this and respond to the Account Manager for the relevant organisation. Currently only Tesco, located in the district, are part of this scheme.

3.4 Advice to Business

The service recognises the importance of providing advice to businesses as part of effective health and safety enforcement. As well as the provision of specific advice during inspections and with post inspection correspondence, a wide range of general health, safety and welfare advice is distributed to businesses, for example; a health and safety newsletter.

The South Cambridgeshire website has also been totally revised and allows direct access and links to local and national health and safety information detailed within this service plan.

As part of its improvement agenda the service will be co-operating in the setting up of a new business stakeholder forum.

3.5 Enforcement Action

In accordance with the principles of the 'Enforcement Concordat' the authority takes a proportionate view to enforcement action. Action will be determined on an individual basis, whilst having consideration for Public Interests Tests.

In addition, where appropriate, the HSE Enforcement Management Model is used to assist the enforcement decision-making process. This is a documented procedure, which helps to ensure consistency in enforcement decisions.

In following this enforcement ethos 5 Improvement Notices and 3 Prohibition Notice were served on businesses from 1/04/06 to 31/03/07.

3.6 Investigation of Work Related Injury and Disease.

The service will investigate as a priority those notifications that are encompassed by Fit3. Additionally, serious injuries such as fractures, dislocations and amputations will be prioritised as will those involving young or vulnerable persons. All dangerous occurrences and industrial disease notifications or related service request, will be investigated.

From 1/04/06 to 31/03/07, 74 accidents/disease reports under the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995 (RIDDOR) were notified to the service and a proportion investigated. The majority of accident notifications are for over three day injuries; only a small number of major injuries are reported. The Council received 3 dangerous occurrences reports and has investigated 2 workplace fatalities.

The workplace fatalities were investigated by the service in teams. The service followed the HSE publication and Memorandum of Understanding 'Work-related Deaths: a Protocol for liaison'. Both investigations required the service to work closely with the Police and other outside agencies.

It is estimated that the investigation time of both fatalities accounted for more than 50% of 1 full time equivalent officer.

During the year 2006/07 officers prepared three prosecutions, 2 of which came about because of work related injuries. These cases have recently been presented to the Magistrate's Court with the companies pleading guilty.

3.7 Liaison with other Organisations

Liaison with other organisations is essential in order to achieve consistency and effectiveness of the health and safety service. The service is represented on the Health & Safety County Liaison Group, which meets bimonthly. This group includes a representative from the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and maintains links with other local authority health and safety enforcement officers.

An important feature of the Group's work is formatting a County-wide work programme and benchmarking procedures. The group also shares good practice and work on joint initiatives, which has given strength to occupational safety issues throughout Cambridgeshire.

The Principal EHO attends the Regional Strategic Partnership Forum on behalf of Cambridgeshire where work patterns are decided for eastern region local authorities to plan partnership and strategic work.

The Council has also taken the lead in producing a Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Health and Safety Newsletter "Health & Safety News".

HSC's (Health and Safety Commission) "Strategy for workplace health and safety and beyond" launched in February 2004 recognised the need for a genuine partnership between (HSE) and local authorities. South Cambridgeshire has embraced this and wishes to take this approach to another level by the setting up of a 'virtual health & safety authority' with the HSE.

The service is a member of the South Cambridgeshire Safety Advisory Group, which is responsible for monitoring the standards of public safety at licencable events in the district.

The service works with the Department of Food & Rural Affairs to license the district's zoos at Linton and Shepreth. During 2007/08 both premises require licencing. South Cambridgeshire District Council is responsible for chairing and administrating this function. In addition to having regard for animal welfare, health safety and welfare considerations are integral to the licence.

3.8 Health and Safety Promotion

Details of health and safety courses run by the Council are provided on the web site, within the twice-yearly newsletter and upon request. To improve educational provision the service also offers risk assessment training, the management of work related stress and manual handling.

The service continues to support the HELA strategy and will participate in the Fit3 national events that are relevant to local authority enforced businesses. The exact nature of the planned involvements will be developed through the year. It is anticipated that the Council will commit to the following

- Smoke Free implementation
- Topic Based Inspections covering numerous Fit3 campaigns (Work place transport, Contact Dermatitis, asbestos, moving goods safely, slips, trips & falls, Musculoskeletal Disorders etc)
- Contact Dermatitis in catering and Hairdressers
- Musculoskeletal Disorders in Residential Care Homes.
- Duty to manage asbestos.

As previously outlined an annual Health & Safety newsletter is produced and distributed to all business within the South Cambridgeshire area. This highlights current issues and potential training initiatives. Copies of the newsletters are made available on the web site.

4.0 Resources

4.1 Financial Allocation

The level of financial support for the health & safety service in 2007/08 is outlined below

Staffing costs* (Salaries & Travel) £130,000 Supplies & Services £24,745 Corporate costs (Admin, IT etc...) £111,173

Total £265,918

4.2 Staffing Allocation

The Service currently comprises of a Principal Environmental Health Officer and a Team Leader. A Health & Safety Enforcement Officer (1 full time equivalent), 2.5 Environmental Health Officers and a Technical Officer undertake health & safety duties within their wider service remit. Administrative support is provided centrally within the service. A calculation of 2.3 full time equivalent officer time is allocated annually to health & safety.

4.3 Staff Development Plan

As part of the Council's staff development scheme, all staff in the Service are subject to an annual appraisal, which identifies training and development needs. This also supports the service's 'Investors in People' status, which focuses on personal development of employees. These individual needs are linked into the service-wide training plan, which provides for the priority resourcing of both qualification based training and continuing professional development.

Health & Safety training courses attended by officers in 2006/07 include

- Legal briefing for Health & Safety
- Disease Reduction Awareness
- IOSH Working Safely Tutor's Day
- Firework Safety course
- CIEH Regional Update

5.0 Quality Assessment

The Team Leader monitors the quality the quality and consistency of health & safety enforcement work through the checking of inspection correspondence and statutory notices. Additionally, the Team Leader peer reviews inspections with officers.

Any formal complaints made against the service are investigated and monitored in accordance with the Council's Complaints Policy. Up to 31/03/07 no such complaints were received in connection with health & safety enforcement.

^{*} Includes 1.5 fte Smoke free Technical Officers

6.0 Review Process

6.1 Review against the Service Plan

This service plan will be reviewed annually and amended accordingly to the changing needs and demands placed on the service.

The table below identifies a range of key health & safety improvement actions that are to be achieved during 2007/08

6.2 Areas of Improvement

Planned improvements for 2007/08.

Action	Planned outcome	By when (date)
Develop the alternative enforcement work for low risk businesses to incorporate Fit3 interventions	Seminars and training events for selected business sectors. Self assessment packs to low risk businesses	March 2008
Continue to work in partnership with HSE and other LA's to contribute to Fit3 campaigns	Support and take part in selected campaigns	On-going
As a Member of a regulatory partnership of authorities in Cambridgeshire take part in Phase II of the Retail Enforcement Pilot being undertaken by the Cabinet Office	Single joint risk assessment; Greater information sharing; Holistic approach to enforcement; greater emphasis on compliance; Non-cashable efficiency gains. Improved targeting of inspection regimes reducing cost on business.	March 2008
Set up a Business Stakeholder Forum for South Cambridgeshire on regulatory matters.	Feedback from businesses in SCDC on regulatory service policies, areas of assistance regarding compliance etc. Improved regulatory policy, improved performance against relevant indicators increased business satisfaction; improvements in compliance.	March 2008
Review documented procedures covering key aspects of the health & safety service	Procedures reviewed and updated in line with new legislative requirements including documented decision making for enforcement work.	March 2008

Action	Planned outcome	By when (date)
Formulate a virtual health & safety service between the LA and the Health & Safety Executive	Agree a Memorandum of Understanding between both parties	On-going
Contribute to a national Moving Goods Safely project involving Co-op stores in the district	Direct inspection of stores identifying health & safety hazards that can affect delivery staff	July 2007
Represent Cambridgeshire at Regional Slips & Trips forum	To devise a regional initiative for slip & trip issues involving primarily cleaners.	December 2007
Contribute to the Disease Reduction Programme	For Asbestos and dermatitis	March 2008
Incorporate animal welfare legislation into the inspection programme	Inspection & licensing within the prescribed timetable as directed by central government	On-going
Undertake 10 programmed inspections in relevant premises to ascertain their compliance with the Stress Management Standards.	Address occupational ill- health stressors in high risk working environments	March 2008
Provide training and awareness to officers regarding the enforcement implications of the Construction Design and Management Regulations 2007	Develop competency to enforce relevant sections	September 2007
Undertake project work in car valeting outlets, liaising with the Environment Agency where appropriate	All encompassing project involving health & safety, pollution control and migrant workers	March 2008